

**Onabotulinum Toxin A Treatment for Post-Traumatic Trigeminal Neuropathic Pain:
Case Series and Literature Review.**

Authors:

Huann Lan Tan (a, b), Pankaew Yakkaphan (a,c), Amandine Beke (a), Tara Renton (a)

Institutions

a. Faculty of Dentistry, Oral & Craniofacial Science, King's College London, London

b. Faculty of Dentistry, The National University of Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

c. Faculty of Dentistry, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Songkhla, Thailand

Corresponding author:

Tara Renton.

King's College Dental Institute, 4th Floor, Department of Oral Surgery, Denmark Hill Campus (King's College London), Bessemer Road, London SE5 9RW, UK.

Email: tara.renton@kcl.ac.uk

Abstract

Introduction: ~~Post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathic pain (PTNP) is a common injury of the trigeminal nerve caused by dental procedures. (Please reword this sentence; there is erroneous connotation of pain being the same as injury. PTNP: what classification are the authors following? ; please review the statement that “it is common”; also are dental procedures the only etiological factor? Can trauma cause it?) The unmanageable pain, traumatic experience, imprecise diagnosis, and multiple drug prescriptions significantly impact the patient’s quality of life. (Consider changing “significantly”, since this word may denote statistical significance) Onabotulinum Toxin A (BTX-A) has demonstrated therapeutic benefit in managing other trigeminal neuropathic pain but is not established in PTNP.~~

~~Up to 70% of patients with trigeminal nerve injuries sequentially to traumatic dental procedures will develop chronic post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathic pain (PTNP). The refractory pain, traumatic experience, imprecise diagnosis, and polypharmacy greatly impact the patient’s quality of life. Onabotulinum Toxin A (BTX-A) has demonstrated therapeutic benefit as an adjunctive treatment in managing neuropathic pain but is not established in PTNP.~~

Aim: The study aims to assess the treatment outcomes of BTX-A on a series of ~~refractory 13 patients with PTNP patients in our centre. that previously not responding to medication.~~ A narrative review of the evidence for BTX-A in PTNP is provided.

Methods: Thirteen patients were treated with BTX-A infiltrations. ~~Patients’ demographics (please reword grammar into “demographics of the patients”);~~ Patients’ demographic and pain characteristics, BTX-A administration, and treatment outcomes were retrospectively ~~analysed~~ reviewed. Resultant papers retrieved after a literature search of articles citing ~~treatment of PTNP~~ ~~treatment~~ using BTX-A were reviewed, ~~and analysed.~~

Results: ~~One patient reported 50% and two patients with 80% pain reduction after single or repeated BTX-A injections and improved daily activities. Three patients reported facial asymmetry, and all except one proceeded with repeat injections with balancing injections, where required. Six patients reported improvement in pain three months after the initial BTX-A injection, with four patients reporting a 50% reduction. Two patients achieved an 80% reduction in pain score over three years of BTX-A therapy. Three patients reported temporary ipsilateral facial muscle weakness. The literature~~

review revealed five case reports on the use of BTX-A in PTNP patients, which reported similar effectiveness to our cohort study.

Conclusion: BTX-A may ~~have be be~~ a potential treatment modality for refractory PTNP, ~~thus reducing and reduce~~ the need for polypharmacy. ~~(please reword the sentence to correct grammar)~~. Multiple sites intraoral BTX-A injections ~~administered~~ over the pain sites are well tolerated, ~~easy and safe, and easily to be practised~~. ~~(please reword the sentence to correct grammar)~~ However, ~~h~~High-quality studies are required to evaluate the long-term therapeutic efficacy and side effects of BTX-A therapy.

Keywords: traumatic trigeminal neuropathy, trigeminal neuropathy, neuropathic pain, submucosal, botulinum toxin

Introduction

~~Multiple factors that could contribute to the development of peripheral neuropathy include trauma, viral or bacterial infection (e.g., Herpes Zoster, Herpes Simplex, Epstein Barr virus, HIV and Lyme disease); metabolic diseases (e.g., diabetes mellitus, hypothyroidism, nutritional deficiencies), autoimmune disorders (e.g., rheumatoid arthritis, Lupus, polyneuropathy), genetic disorders (e.g., Charcot Marie Tooth disease) and tumours invasion (correct grammar). During surgery (in the abstract, the authors state the cause is “dental procedures”. Please specify, supported by appropriate citations, if it is during surgery, other dental procedures, or can it be also due to accidental and incidental trauma?), damage to the peripheral nervous system may lead to painful sensory neuropathy, and is commonly reported within,^{1,2} and outside the trigeminal system^{3,4}. Post-traumatic neuropathy is limited to patients whose sensory neuropathy has been caused by trauma (mechanical, chemical, or thermal). The International Classification of Orofacial Pain (ICOP)⁵ has set out diagnostic criteria, which includes demonstrating a neuropathic area that coincides with the anatomical area where the trauma occurred and development of neuropathy within six months (radiation and chemotherapy causation), with associated positive or negative signs. Positive signs include burning, sharp or shooting pain, often with allodynia (mechanical~~

or thermal), hyperalgesia and hyperpathia⁵; this concurs with the International Classification of Headache Disorders (ICHD-3)⁶. Finnerup NB et al. has summarised and revised the grading system by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) Special Interest Group on Neuropathic Pain (NeuPSIG) on the level of certainty in diagnosing possible, probable, and definite neuropathic pain⁷. These are applied to the trigeminal system injury, in which clinical neurosensory examination is vital in determining a diagnosis of probable neuropathic pain^{2,8}.

Dental procedures are high volume (what does high volume mean?), with an estimated two million mandibular third molar extractions undertaken in the UK alone per year⁹. All surgical procedures carry a risk of sensory nerve injury¹⁰, and several reviews have highlighted the possible prevention and management of PTNP concerning dental surgery^{11,12}. Post-traumatic peripheral neuropathic pain may not be life-threatening but could cause a remarkable impact on a patient's quality of life^{13,14}. It is also suggested that trigeminal pain presents a significantly higher affective component (please explain the term "affective component") than other regional pain¹⁵. The iatrogenic nature of pain caused by surgery also adds to the affective burden^{14,15}. Chronic PTNP in the orofacial region impeded essential daily functions, including the patient's speech, mastication, and swallowing function, with a reported significant psychosocial burden in these patients².

There are many published international guidelines on managing patients with neuropathic pain by various task forces such as the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, UK (NICE), European Federation of Neurological Societies, German Society of Neurology and American Academy of Pain Medicine. These task forces suggest multidisciplinary treatment using psychological, medical, pharmacological?, and rarely surgical management¹⁶⁻²⁰. How about adjunctive therapy? The NICE guidelines recommends the non-specialist's role in managing neuropathic pain in adults with pharmacological treatments²⁰. The mainstay of treating patients with affected by neuropathic pain is systemic and topical medications using tricyclic antidepressants and gabapentinoids, with their attendant side effects resulting in poor patient compliance²¹⁻²³. Thus, medication is often ineffective in managing patients with PTNP, and other strategies are needed¹. There is high level evidence for the

~~therapeutic value of OnabotulinumtoxinA (BTX A) as a peripheral prophylactic or symptomatic therapeutic nerve block for neuropathic pain²⁴ (this statement seems to be totally erroneous based on the citation 24. The evidence in this referenced manuscript is “low” or “N/A”. Also, please explain what the authors meant by “prophylactic”? Is BTX A used as a prophylactic treatment for neuropathic pain?) with a level A evidence on the use of BTX A in treating trigeminal neuralgia²⁵⁻²⁷ (Cited references 26 and 27 do not seem to mention the “level of evidence”. Please cross check) and post herpetic neuralgia^{28,29} (Cited references 28 and 29 do not seem to mention the “level of evidence”. Please cross check); level B evidence in treating post traumatic and painful diabetic neuropathic pain²⁵, and with lower-level evidence supports the use of BTX A for orofacial musculoskeletal disorders such as myofascial pain or hyperactivity³⁰⁻³², cervical dystonia^{33,34}. In addition, BTX A is relatively safe with reversible effects and is a one of the recommended therapies for headache³⁵ and migraines³⁶⁻³⁹. BTX A is injected into the painful neuropathic location, and the toxin is taken up by the peripheral terminals of nociceptive afferent nerve fibres. (citation?) This action suppresses the peripheral and central release of allogenic neurotransmitters, thus promoting analgesia⁴⁰. However, there is limited evidence available with regards to treating trigeminal PTNP with BTX A. Two case reports were using BTX A for peripheral PTNP^{41,42}. (please correct grammar) Both Herrero BA et al. and Garc a S ez R et al. treated their patient with intraoral botulinum toxin injections^{41,42}. (rephrase the sentence so as to avoid doubling citations inside the sentence and at the end) The patients in these articles studies were diagnosed with orofacial neuropathic pain that was non responsive to previous, commonly prescribed treatments. (What treatments were unsuccessful?) The BTX A is introduced as an addition to their therapy. (Correct grammar. Be consistent with the tense) The results of these case reports are promising, as the patients lost a considerable amount of pain. (Please rephrase the sentence to proper English) In other words, the intensity and frequency of the pain lowered considerably, which made the patients feel more comfortable than before. (Please delete layman versions of language) As a result, (Suggest restarting the sentence: “Here we attempt...”)- we embark on a retrospective analysis of 13 patients that we have treated and a review of the current literature on the use of botulinum toxin in PTNP.~~

Post-traumatic neuropathy is limited to a patient whose sensory neuropathy has been caused by mechanical, chemical, or thermal trauma. The International Classification of Orofacial Pain (ICOP)¹ has defined post-traumatic neuropathy as a neuropathic site that coincides with the anatomical area where the trauma occurred and is followed by neuropathy development within six months and has associated somatosensory changes. Positive neuropathic signs include burning, sharp or shooting pain, allodynia (mechanical or thermal), hyperalgesia and hyperpathia¹ and this concurs with the International Classification of Headache Disorders (ICHD-3)². Finnerup NB et al.³ have further summarised and revised the grading system of the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) Special Interest Group on Neuropathic Pain (NeuPSIG)⁴ on the level of certainty in diagnosing possible, probable, and definite neuropathic pain. These diagnostic criteria are extended to the trigeminal nervous system, emphasising the need for clinical neurosensory evaluation.

With the increasing demand for dental treatment, trigeminal nerve injuries related to dentistry are increasing. Common causes of orofacial nerve injuries are local anaesthesia (direct needle trauma), endodontic treatment, tooth extraction and dental implant surgery. All surgical procedures carry a risk of sensory nerve injury⁵. With an estimated two million mandibular third molar extractions undertaken in the UK per year⁶, several reviews have highlighted the prevention and management of post-traumatic peripheral trigeminal neuropathic pain (PTNP) concerning dental surgery^{7,8}. 70% of the nerve injuries patients⁹ will develop chronic PTNP, commonly reported within^{10,11} and outside the trigeminal system^{12,13}. PTNP may not be life-threatening, but the iatrogenic pain added to the traumatic incidence^{14,15} could cause a remarkable impact on a patient's quality of life^{14,15,16}. It is suggested that orofacial trigeminal pain has a higher affective component impact on patient psychosocial function than other regional pain¹⁵. Chronic PTNP in the orofacial region also impeded essential daily functions, including the patient's speech, mastication, and swallowing¹¹.

Various task forces have published international guidelines, such as the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, UK (NICE), European Federation of Neurological Societies, German Society of Neurology and American Academy of Pain Medicine on managing patients with neuropathic pain.

These task forces suggested the importance of multidisciplinary treatment, including psychological, pharmacological, adjunct therapy such as neurostimulation and rarely surgical intervention¹⁷⁻²¹. The NICE guideline also detailed the importance of non-specialists' role in pharmacological managing adults' neuropathic pain²¹. The primary recommendations for treating patients with neuropathic pain are systemic and topical drugs using mainly tricyclic antidepressants and gabapentinoids, with their attendant side effects resulting in poor patient compliance²²⁻²⁴. Thus, pharmacotherapy is often ineffective in managing patients with PTNP, and other strategies are needed⁹.

Recent articles have demonstrated the effectiveness of botulinum toxin in managing neuropathic pain^{17,25,26}. The therapeutic analgesic value of intradermal or subcutaneous administration of Onabotulinumtoxin A (BTX-A) was demonstrated in trigeminal neuralgia²⁷⁻²⁹, post-herpetic neuralgia^{30,31}, post-traumatic neuralgia^{27,32}, post-surgical neuralgia^{33,34} and diabetic neuropathy^{35,36} disorders. In addition, BTX-A is relatively safe with reversible effects and is a recommended adjunct therapy for headaches³⁷ and migraines³⁸⁻⁴⁰. Published case reports on using BTX-A in treating intraoral neuropathic pain were promising, as patients exhibited considerable improvement in pain and quality of life^{41,42}. However, there is limited evidence regarding BTX-A as an alternative treatment for intraoral PTNP. Here we attempt to retrospectively analyse 13 PTNP patients that we have treated with BTX-A and review the literature on the use of BTX-A in PTNP.

Literature Review

Electronic literature searches of Medline (PubMed) and Google Scholar were performed using the following keywords: 'botulinum toxin', 'traumatic trigeminal neuropathy', 'neuropathic pain', 'trigeminal neuropathy' and 'post-traumatic neuropathy'. ~~The literature search was limited to English text (Articles in English?), and patients must have a description of precipitating events before and related to the diagnosis of PTNP to be included in this review. (Rephrase the sentences; what the author means is not clear at all) Persistent dentoalveolar pain was excluded. Articles in the English language that described the causation events of trauma or injuries prior to PTNP and the use of BTX-A were included in the literature review.~~

The literature search revealed three case reports and two case series ⁴²⁻⁴⁶ ~~on BTX A in PTNP~~. The ~~patients'~~ clinical characteristics ~~of patients~~ (Suggested: ~~The clinical characteristics of the patients~~) and ~~the~~ treatment modalities ~~were ("are") are~~ summarised in Table 1. All included patients received first-line pharmacology treatment but responded poorly to it, except for Yoon et al.⁴³ ~~who,~~ ~~who~~ reported a 60% decrease in dysesthesia ~~in the patient~~ but failed to achieve ~~significant continuous~~ pain-free episodes following six months of pharmacotherapy.⁴³ The primary cause of trigeminal maxillary or mandibular nerve branch injuries ~~wasere~~ dental treatments ~~or surgeries such as dental exodontia, implant, endodontic, and orthognathic surgery.~~ ~~followed by orofacial surgical procedures.~~ (Please specify the dental treatments and the surgical procedures) Four studies reported no adverse effect associated with post BTX A injection^{42,44-46}, and four studies^{42-44,46} reported the presence of sensory changes in patients such as allodynia and hyperalgesia. (Please correct grammar) Despite (Please avoid layman language) the various dosage of BTX A used in the reported cases (range: 15 to 50 units), all cases showed consistent significant pain relief, with three studies^{42,45,46} reported more than 50% pain score reduction from baseline. ~~No serious adverse effect was reported in four studies after BTX-A injection^{42,44-46}, but patients experienced sensory changes such as allodynia and hyperalgesia. Although the dosage of BTX-A used in the reported articles (range: 15 to 50 units) varies, all studies showed constant pain relief, with three studies^{42,45,46} reported more than 50% pain score reduction from baseline.~~ De la Torre Canales G et al.⁴⁶ reported a notable 70% reduction of VAS score in a case ~~of PTNP~~ involving trigeminal ~~mandibular~~ nerve ~~mandibular~~ branch (CN V3) ~~injury~~, which did not show ~~any~~ improvement ~~and had poor tolerance to pharmacotherapy, including topical capsaicin, nortriptyline, pregabalin and oxcarbazepine.~~ One of the four patients in Moreno Hay I et al.⁴⁴ showed no improvement in its ~~post-injection pain score at three months.~~ ~~with pharmacotherapy⁴⁶.~~ (Type of pharmacotherapy? Please avoid doubling the citations) One of the four patients in Moreno Hay I et al. showed no improvement in its ~~post-injection pain score at three months⁴⁴,~~ (Please avoid doubling the citations) ~~and this similarity is observed in our case study 4.~~

Case Series

~~A prospective cohort of patients seen in the Orofacial Pain Service at Kings College Hospital London and St. Thomas Hospital London was diagnosed with neuropathic pain in accordance with ICOP diagnostic criteria⁵ and had responded poorly to first-line medical management for their pain following NICE Guidelines for Neuropathic Pain UK²⁰. (Please correct grammar and punctuations) Ten female and three male patients with a mean age of 61.2 years (range 43 to 73) were diagnosed with refractory PTNP under ICOP criteria⁵; all had limited pain relief or could not tolerate the anti-neuropathic medication. (What was the drug?) The duration of PTNP ranged widely from one to twenty years before the (Suggested: prior to the utilization of) BTX-A injections. The leading cause for PTNP in seven patients was post-dental extractions. (Please correct grammar) A cohort of 13 patients (ten females and three males) were diagnosed with refractory PTNP according to ICOP criteria¹ and were seen in the Orofacial Pain Service at King's College Hospital London and St Thomas Hospital London. All the patients were recruited for adjunct BTX-A injection due to their poor response or tolerance to pharmacotherapy following the UK NICE Guidelines for Neuropathic Pain²¹ (Table 2). The mean age of the patients was 61.2 years (range 43 to 73), with the duration of PTNP ranging from one to twenty years prior to administering BTX-A injections. The leading cause of PTNP seen in seven patients was post-dental extractions. Other causes of PTNP ~~eauses~~ were crown restoration (2 patients), implant treatment (1 patient), endodontic treatment (1 patient) and fibroma excision (1 patient), in which all the dental procedures were performed under local anaesthesia. One patient developed infraorbital PTNP after surgical implantation of sphenopalatine ganglion stimulation implantation for refractory cluster headache. Table 2 describes the patients' characteristics ~~patients' characteristics~~ and their associated comorbidities. (Please correct grammar) Existing orofacial pain symptoms prior to PTNP were reported by seven of the 13 patients. Except for case 6, all patients reported neuropathic pain over the region innervated by the trigeminal maxillary branch (CN V2).~~

~~After obtaining the patients' consent, (Please correct grammar) between 3 and 35 units (What was the basis of selecting from this wide range of dosage units? Rationale for the variation in the units) Upon obtaining patients' consent, 3 to 35 units~~ of BTX-A (Onabotulinum Toxin A®, Allergan, Irvine, CA, USA) were injected directly subcutaneously or/and submucosally into the affected regions (Figure 1,

Figure 2, Table 3). The average BTX-A delivered across all patients was 22.2 units. The total dose of BTX-A for each patient was determined by the number of painful sites and intensity. All patients were warned of possible cosmetic facial muscle weakness asymmetry after the initial injections. The patients were evaluated via phone call two to six weeks after the first BTX-A injection to ensure no adverse complications and assess the efficacy of BTX-A in relieving the neuropathic pain. The patients' pain reduction was assessed with an 11-points visual analogue scale (VAS). (Please correct grammar) The BTX-A injection was repeated every 12 weeks depending on the severity of their pain when the BTX-A analgesic effect had worn off. (Does BTX-A has analgesic effect? Citations? And, do the authors mean local anesthetic?) To evaluate the effectiveness of BTX-A in managing PTNP patients, a subjective 11-points (0-10) visual analogue scale (VAS) was used to assess changes in pain scores. The BTX-A injection was repeated every 12 weeks, depending on the pain severity.

After three months of review, the mean pain scores of nine patients were 5.3 (SD ± 2.4), with a significant reduction in pain intensity (p= 0.012) (Figure 3). Six patients (cases 3,4,5,9,12,13) failed to respond to the initial BTX-A injection, and three patients (cases 3,4,5) decided to discontinue the treatment. Four patients (cases 3,4,5,7) lost follow-up after the initial BTX-A due to the COVID pandemic. In the telephone reviews, six patients (50%) (Figure 4) reported great pain relief within two to four weeks after the initial BTX-A injection. Four patients (cases 6,7,10,11) reported a greater than 50% reduction in VAS scores between three to six months of review assessment (Table 4). Six patients felt a subjective improvement in their masticatory and swallowing activities upon pain relief. In case 6, the pain intensity returned to baseline at six months but showed a consistent 50% reduction of VAS scores in the subsequent visits. Cases 6 and 7 received regular BTX-A therapy for three years at three-month intervals, reporting an overall 80% pain score reduction. There was no statistically significant correlation between changes in VAS scores after BTX-A administration and the pain duration and baseline pain scores.

Three patients (cases 3,4,5) failed to respond to the first BTX-A injection and discontinued the treatment. However, the other three patients (cases 9,12,13), who did not respond to the first injection,

~~aimed to continue with the subsequent BTX A treatment. At telephone review, six patients (50%) (Figure 3) reported subjective significant pain relief within two to four weeks following the first BTX-A injection. Four of them (cases 6,7,10,11) reported a more than 50% reduction of VAS scores (Expand VAS: first time being used) from the baseline between three to six months of assessment (Table 4). However, in case 6, the pain intensity increased to baseline at six months but showed a subsequent consistent 50% reduction of VAS score in following visits. Case 6 and 7 received constant BTX A therapy for three years at three month intervals, reporting an 80% baseline pain score reduction. The initial analgesic effect (latency period) (This statement is ambiguous; please explain what the authors mean by “analgesic effect” and “latency period”) was felt between one to two weeks post injection, and the analgesic effect lasted between one to (Please correct grammar) three months before returning to pre BTX A levels or raise of higher pain score. After three months of review, all six patients with pain reduction reported improved ability to perform daily functional activities, especially mastication, drinking, and swallowing. (Please compare with the pre injection functional levels of all these actions; are the authors differentiating between drinking and swallowing?) Three patients reported facial asymmetry after BTX A injections, two very mild. (Please correct grammar) BTX A, 5-10 units (Please correct grammar) were injected at the contralateral sites to avoid facial asymmetry, and undesired cosmetic effects in one patient (with premaxillary pain) at subsequent injections. (Please rephrase the sentence; the essence is not clear) Two patients developed new sensations after treatment. One patient reported sharp shooting (Pain?) around (Ipsilateral or contralateral or both) nostril and eye after three months, and another patient experienced pins and needles sensations radiating to nostril and eyes for two days after injection. There was no significant adverse effects reported from long term BTX A therapy. (Is this a conclusionary statement?)~~

Three patients reported transient partial hemi facial paralysis after BTX-A injections. 5-10 units of BTX-A were injected at the contralateral site to address the undesired cosmetic adverse effect and prevent facial asymmetry. Two patients developed somatosensory changes after BTX-A treatment. One patient reported sharp shooting ipsilateral pain around the nostril and eye after three months, and another patient experienced pins and needles sensations radiating to the ipsilateral nostril and eyes for

two days after injection. None of the patients reported experiencing any serious adverse effects from long-term BTX-A therapy.

Discussion

The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) defines neuropathic pain as “pain arising as a direct consequence of a lesion or disease affecting the somatosensory system”⁴⁷. ICOP clarifies the diagnosis of PTNP and differentiates it from persistent dentoalveolar pain (PDAP), which is idiopathic and primary in nature and not secondary to surgery⁵. Post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathic pain (PTNP) is an orofacial pain that occurs due to mechanical, thermal, radiation or chemical trauma of the trigeminal cranial nerve (CN V) and its branches. The severity of the nerve injuries may range from negative signs like such as anaesthesia, to mild or severe pain over the injured dermatome distribution⁶. Treatment of neuropathic pain is problematic (Improve language) as it various responds to psychological, medical, and alternative methods. (Please correct grammar) There were various medications recommended by international guidelines^{16-19,23}, including tricyclic antidepressants¹⁷ and gabapentanoids, which also have a high number needed to treat (NNTs) (pregabalin: 7.7; gabapentin 6.3)¹⁶. The high gabapentanoids NNTs between four to eight, (Please correct grammar and punctuations) which provides a 50% pain relief response, are far from ideal⁴⁸ with high comorbidity and drug intolerance¹⁹. Persistent dentoalveolar pain (PDAP), which was previously thought to be PTNP, was excluded from the case series and literature review based on the ICOP definition of PTNP¹. PDAP is an idiopathic neuropathic pain and is not secondary to trauma. PTNP is an orofacial pain that occurs due to mechanical, thermal, radiation or chemical trauma of the trigeminal cranial nerve (CN V) and its branches. The severity of the nerve injuries may range from negative signs such as anaesthesia to mild or severe dysaesthesia over the injured dermatome distribution². The burdens in managing chronic PTNP patients were their inconsistent pharmacotherapy response, poor drug tolerance and high gabapentanoids drug number-to-treat (pregabalin: 7.7; gabapentin 6.3)¹⁷.

~~The burden in managing patients with chronic (Suggest: PTNP) post-traumatic neuropathic pain patients with poor pharmacotherapy outcomes (Please rephrase and correct grammar) may further place a clinician in dilemma and difficult treatment decisions. A diagnostic peripheral nerve block (PNB) may be helpful to determine a patient's response favourably (Please correct grammar) to BTX-A therapy. However, there is little evidence for orofacial pain diagnostic PNBs to prove their diagnostic capability⁴⁹. (Please rephrase and correct grammar; the essence is lost) Of course, one has to phenotype the pain^{6,7} precisely, with correct diagnosis⁵⁰, and the patient appropriately endotype (Please explain what endotype means?) to ensure optimal pain management⁵¹. Patients' (Please correct grammar) compliance with pain medication for neuropathic pain are (Please correct grammar) poor, with less than 45% of patients continuing their treatment⁵². Inadequate response to medication may be due to lack of motivation to take medications as preferring a quick fix to their problem^{53,54}, medication intolerance which is likely psychosomatic⁵⁵, and medication sensitivity both preventing the patient from achieving optimal dosage to manage their pain without side effects⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸. Thus, a holistic assessment is essential to identify possible psychological factors that will impact patients' compliance (Please correct grammar) with medication.~~

~~The mechanism of neuropathic pain is complex and involves peripheral and central nervous systems, and key interactions within sensory pathways have been discovered, but no common molecular mechanism leading to neuropathic pain has only been recently identified^{59,60}. An overview of the pathophysiology of trigeminal PTNP has been recently published⁶¹. There is recognition that patient vulnerability is a crucial issue, reinforcing the need for holistic assessment and management⁶². It is a debilitating condition that significantly affects the patients' quality of health, leading to psychosocial dysfunction and poor oral or dental health. (Please correct grammar)~~

~~Therapeutic peripheral nerve block (PNB) deliberately interrupts (Please correct grammar; what does this mean?) an action potential (both transduction and/or transmission) for pain relief and is generally applied to a specific peripheral sensory nerve. There is little evidence supporting the screening of patients using local anaesthetic diagnostic blocks or regional nerve blockade. (Please correct vocabulary~~

~~and grammar) Botulinum toxin A (BTX) is recommended for therapeutic PNBs. However, it is recommended that BTX is used peripherally, sub-dermally, or submucosally without local anaesthetic with adrenaline to maximise uptake of the toxin to nerve cell bodies and synapses⁶³. The antinociceptive effect of BTX is hypothesised to be related to its ability to inhibit the release of noncholinergic neurotransmitters and nociceptive mediators such as substance P, calcitonin gene-related protein (CGRP) and the expression of transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1), which are associated with neurogenic inflammation and peripheral sensitisation^{39,64,65} at the local site. As nerve injury expresses the release of those neurotransmitters, (Please correct grammar) BTX might be considered a therapeutic agent used as a peripheral nerve block (PNB) against chronic neuropathic pain⁶⁶. The suppressive effects of BTX on the trigeminal nociceptive system were demonstrated in a study in which BTX could inhibit pain conduction after intradermal injection of capsaicin in the forehead⁶⁷. This suggests a local peripheral effect of BTX on the cutaneous nociceptors⁶⁷. In addition, an in vivo study on the rat's (Please correct grammar) trigeminal ganglion has shown the antinociceptive role of BTX retrograde axonal transport from the primary periphery site to the central nervous system⁶⁸.~~

~~The safety and efficacy of repeated BTX A injections have been reported in peripheral neuropathic pain²⁴. Attal N et al. conducted a placebo-controlled randomised control trial of 68 patients with peripheral neuropathic pain (not restricted to PTNP) and has published promising results on the efficacy and safety of repeated BTX A injections²⁴. (Please follow the journal's citation style; avoid doubling citations) Almost two thirds of the BTX assigned group was post-traumatic or post-surgical neuropathic pain. (Please correct grammar) Unfortunately, the improvement was not significant after the first BTX-A injection compared to the placebo injection group. However, they achieved a significant improvement in pain intensity at six months, after the second injection, compared to the placebo group (adjusted effect estimate = 0.77; 95% CI = 0.95 to = 0.59; p < 0.0001). Therefore, they concluded that the accumulative (cumulative?) chemo-denervation effect of repeated BTX A injections cycles is superior against peripheral neuropathic pain to a single injection. (Please correct grammar) The only side effects noted were was severe pain during BTX A injection, but there was no significant difference with the placebo group (p=1.0), and concluded the safety of BTX A injections²⁴. BTX A is now recommended~~

to treat focal neuropathic pain⁴⁶. Attal et al. reported that sensory changes such as mechanical allodynia and limited thermal deficit ($p < 0.05$) were valuable predictors in stratifying patients' positive response to BTX A²⁴. (Please correct grammar) A more recent study of patients with neuropathic pain of different causalities could be stratified into three groups, pinprick pain (paraesthesia), deep pain and elicited mechanical allodynia. (Please correct grammar and rephrase the sentence) The latter groups (which groups are the authors describing?) responded well to BTX A injections but not the paraesthesia group⁶⁹.

BTX A has been proven to be effective in trigeminal neuropathic pain. A systematic review, which included four prospective randomised controlled studies assessing the efficacy of BTX A in trigeminal neuralgia, reported that 70 to 100% of patients reported improvement in pain after the injection⁷⁰. Patients receiving botulinum toxin A for trigeminal neuralgia had higher odds of achieving a more than 50% reduction in pain scores^{71,72}. A recent meta-analysis of four randomised control trials (RCTs) (42–45) including 178 patients (BTX A: $n=99$; placebo: $n=79$) revealed a significant superiority of BTX A in reducing pain score (RR 2.87, $p < 0.0001$) and frequency of attacks ($p < 0.0001$), documenting a benefit duration up to three months and mild to moderate and self-limiting adverse events⁷³. To sum up, BTX A may represent a valuable therapeutic tool in the clinical management of TN by injecting BTX A in the trigger's zones^{74,75}. The first clinical effect of BTX A appears at its peak after two weeks and is reduced at four weeks after treatment. The effect of BTX A last for three to six months and can up to seven to nine months with repeated injection⁷⁰.

An open label study supported the potential value of administrating BTX A in patients diagnosed with refractory PTNP and not responding to routine systemic and local antinociceptive agents that showed significant pain relief post six months BTX A treatment in all 15 patients diagnosed with drug-refractory trigeminal neuralgia ($p < 0.001$)³¹. (Please split the sentences; they hardly make sense as a collection; please clarify: are the authors referring to PTNP or refractory TN here?) A similar outcome is seen in the increased effectiveness of BTX A induced analgesia with repeated injection in PTNP⁴²⁴⁶. (Please correct grammar) compared to BTX A in other peripheral neuropathic pain diseases. PTNP

patients often presented with mechanical and thermal hypersensitivity, and this phenotype has a better response to BTX A treatment^{24,69}.

~~There is no consensus (Suggest: We could not find a consensus) on the therapeutic dosing range of BTX A to achieve a good therapeutic effect with reducing adverse effects. The dose varies and is dependant on clinician's choice and the patient's subjective pain score during the review visits and experience. The total dosage of BTX A used in our clinical practice (mean: 25 units and total maximum dose: 50 units) was comparable with the five case reports in the literature review. Repeated regular BTX A injections have been shown to be safe, increasing therapeutic benefits, and sustained continuous reduction in pain score. This sustained pain relief from repetitive BTX A injection is reflected in two of our patients with a follow up of three and five years, respectively^{42,45}. Prolonged BTX A administration will (Suggest: may) increase the duration of response, and patients may need a less frequent and high concentration of BTX A⁷⁶. (Please comment on the fact that repeated administration of BTX A may actually reduce efficacy due to the antigenic nature of the toxin) Nevertheless, the repetitive dosage or frequency (time gap between injections) of BTX A should be reduced once a significant pain relief was achieved, as seen in the use of headache or migraine, to reduce the long term possibility of untoward BTX A adverse effects. (Please enumerate the adverse effects)~~

~~Long term use of BTX A may develop patients' tolerance towards BTX A and subsequently lose its antinociceptive sensory effect⁷⁷. A practice of minimum effective antinociceptive BTX A concentration should be administered, and the frequency of booster injections should be minimized with an interval of at least three months. The patient should be warned of the possible migration of BTX A, which may affect the patient's facial symmetry and muscle functions. There was insufficient documentation on BTX A induced muscle atrophy's adverse effect (Please correct grammar) in chronic repetitive botulinum toxin cycle injection⁷⁸. Salari M et al. have suggested factors contributing to BTX A induced muscle atrophy, such as type of BTX A, advanced age, gender, obesity, muscle reinnervation and characteristic, underlying comorbidities, muscle spindles, blood perfusion, and fats⁷⁸. (Please correct grammar)~~

The primary cause of PTNP is often associated with dental procedures (Avoid multiple repetitions of the same sentence) BTX A has been injected submucosal intraorally (Please correct grammar) over the pain or trigger zone along with the distribution of the maxillary and inferior alveolar nerve branches. Similar successful analgesic effectiveness and pain relief pattern were achieved with submucosal intraoral BTX A injection as to subcutaneous injection as reported in our case series and literature review^{42,44-46}. The intraoral BTX A injection has a latency period of one to two weeks following the injection^{41,42,43,46} except for one study which Cuadrado M et al. reported a three-day latency period⁴⁵ for the BTX A analgesic effect. (Please correct grammar) The duration of the analgesic of BTX A (Please correct grammar) lasted for two to five months^{41,42,44-46}. Repeated cycles of three-monthly (Please correct grammar) intraoral injection prolong the BTX A analgesic effect with a higher percentage of pain relief (70%)^{41,42,45}. The side effect is minimal, with the most common transient facial asymmetry (Please correct grammar) mainly due to unilateral application of the drug. A contralateral BTX A injection could be offered to the patient to reduce the cosmetic facial asymmetry. (Citation needed) Reports of mucosa dryness were reported (Please correct grammar) in intraoral submucosal injection for persistent dentoalveolar pain, but no soft tissue abnormality or lesion was observed⁴¹. The dosage involved is within 10 to 50 units^{41,42,44-46}, with one randomised controlled trial study noted a similar effect on a low dosage of 25 units a high dosage of 75 units⁷⁹. (Please correct grammar)

The submucosal intraoral injection is safe and easy injected (Please correct grammar) in the buccal vestibules, gingiva and hard palate. However, caution that (Please correct grammar) it should not be injected in vital structures innervated by the motor nerve and have rich blood circulation, (Please correct grammar) such as the tongue, floor of the mouth and soft palate. This may lead to fatal events such as airway compromise, swallowing, speech (Please correct grammar and reword the sentence) and systemic nervous toxicity. The presence of a vasoconstrictor could help localize the effect of BTX A with limited diffusion of BTX A to distant regions from the injection site and reduce pain during injection. Nonetheless, it may reduce the analgesic efficacy and distribution, and multiple injections sites may be needed as the pain or trigger zones are often not localized to a single point of the traumatic nerve dermatome innervation. As there is no reported sensory numbness or significant injuries to the

oral mucosa, post BTX A injection, BTX A could be used without a vasoconstrictor to increase its analgesic effect. A minimal dose of BTX A could be injected on the contralateral non-painful site to prevent cosmetic facial asymmetry. (Repetition)

Our clinical experience and published case reports showed (Please correct grammar) that BTX A has significantly impacted the patient's pain and enhanced the quality of the patient's mental and physical health. BTX A could be used in refractory neuropathic pain patients (Please correct grammar: please avoid laymen language) with no improvement or intolerance towards the drugs' side effects. (Please correct grammar) Polypharmacy in a patient could be avoided, reducing the risk of adverse drug reactions such as falls and cognitive impairment, drug interactions, drugs to disease interaction, and poor patient's compliance (Please correct grammar) to medications. The major caveat is that the use of BTX A in chronic neuropathic orofacial pain is 'off label'. Patient selection is an important aspect. Despite the wide application of BTX A in the orofacial region, the evidence for BTX A as a therapeutic PNB for PTNP is lacking. Unfortunately, there are no high-quality studies on peripheral neuropathic pain secondary to trauma to date. The literature supporting its efficacy in many of these conditions is weak, consisting mainly of a case report or uncontrolled, open-label studies rather than double-blinded, randomised clinical trials. BTX A as PNBs to treat PTNP findings are encouraging, but high-quality evidence is not available to conclude that BTX A injections can become a standardized treatment for refractory PTNP. A large controlled randomised clinical trial is essential to establish the efficacy of BTX A in providing immediate and sustainable pain relief with consensus guidelines on the therapeutic dosing range, total doses and limits and treatment algorithms. (Please correct grammar)

The mechanism of neuropathic pain in peripheral and central nervous systems is complex, and key interactions within sensory pathways have been discovered, but no common molecular mechanism leading to neuropathic pain has been identified^{48,49}. An overview of the pathophysiology of trigeminal PTNP has been recently published⁵⁰.

The suppressive action of BTX-A on the trigeminal nociceptive system was demonstrated in a study in which BTX-A inhibit pain conduction after intradermal injection of capsaicin in the forehead⁵¹. In

addition, an in-vivo study on the rat's trigeminal ganglion has shown the anti-nociceptive role of BTX-A⁵². It was thought that BTX-A suppressed the release of peripheral and central allogenic neurotransmitters, thus promoting analgesia⁵³. Upon injury to the nerve, neurotransmitters involved in pain modulation were released. The anti-nociceptive effect of BTX-A is hypothesised to be related to its ability to inhibit the release of noncholinergic neurotransmitters and nociceptive mediators such as substance P, calcitonin gene-related protein (CGRP) and the expression of transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1), which are associated with neurogenic inflammation and peripheral sensitisation⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶ at the injured site. This inhibits the transmission of nociceptive impulse from the primary periphery injured site to the central nervous system⁵⁷. Upon injections of BTX-A at the painful neuropathic site, the toxin will be taken up by the peripheral terminals of nociceptive afferent nerve fibres⁵⁸. This suggests a local peripheral effect of BTX-A on the cutaneous nociceptors⁵¹ and the possibility of BTX-A as an adjunct therapeutic peripheral nerve block against chronic intractable neuropathic pain⁵⁹. For immediate relief of pain arising during injection and better pain reduction efficacy, we administered a mixture of BTX-A and local anaesthetic without vasoconstriction such as adrenaline to allow a wider toxin diffusion and uptake area.

Poor patient drug compliance was reported in a study, with less than 45% of patients continuing their treatment⁶⁰. Inadequate therapeutic response to medication may be due to a lack of motivation, such as preferring a quick fix to their problem^{61,62}, medication intolerance, which is likely psychosomatic⁶³, and medication sensitivity, which prevents the patient from achieving optimal therapeutic dosage to manage their pain without side effects⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶. Thus, psychological behaviour assessment prior to treatment could assist in identifying candidates with poor oral drug compliance who may benefit from BTX-A therapy. There is recognition that patient vulnerability is a crucial issue, reinforcing the need for holistic assessment and management of pain⁶⁷. As PTNP is a debilitating disorder, it could greatly affect patients' psychosocial function and oral health.

Phenotyping the patient's pain^{2,3} diagnosis as PTNP is important for further stratifying (endotyping) the PTNP patients based on their pains' characteristics^{68,69} as a responder or non-responder towards BTX-

A therapy. Attal et al.⁷⁰ reported that patients with mechanical allodynia and thermal deficit ($p < 0.05$) symptoms were valuable predictors in profiling patients as a responder to BTX-A. A study on patients with neuropathic pain arising from different causalities has classified patients into three groups; pinprick pain (paraesthesia), deep pain and elicited mechanical allodynia. Patients in the deep pain or allodynia groups respond better to BTX-A therapy but not the paraesthesia group⁷¹, and this benefit PTNP patients as they often present with mechanical and thermal hypersensitivity^{70,71}. This was reflected in our case series, where six of nine patients with a history of continuous pain or allodynia reported improvement in their pain at three months review. Hence, the importance of somatosensory assessment is suggested before a clinical decision on BTX-A administration.

A diagnostic peripheral nerve block (PNB) may be helpful to ascertain a favourable patient's response to BTX-A therapy, but limited evidence is available to support the screening of patients using local anaesthetic nerve blocks⁷². It is believed that delivery of PNB at the specific peripheral sensory nerve distribution of the pain site interrupts the transduction or transmission of nociceptive action potential from the peripheral nerve branches to the central nervous system. Due to the lack of evidence on using PNB in determining BTX-A prognosis responses and the additional injection discomfort to the patient, we did not perform this in our centre.

We could not find a consensus on the therapeutic dosing range of BTX-A in achieving an ideal therapeutic result while reducing the adverse effects. The dose varies and is dependent on the clinician's choice and the patient's subjective pain intensity during the review visits. The total dosage of BTX-A used in our clinical practice was comparable with the five case reports in the literature review.

The effectiveness and safety of repeated BTX-A injections have been reported in other peripheral neuropathic pain⁷⁰ studies. A placebo-controlled randomised control trial of 68 patients with peripheral neuropathic pain (not restricted to but two-thirds of the patients have PTNP) published promising results on the efficacy and safety of repeated BTX-A injections⁷⁰. The improvement was insignificant after the first BTX-A injection compared to the placebo group. However, the pain intensity significantly

improved six months after the second injection compared to the placebo group (p<0.0001). Repeated regular BTX-A injections in neuropathic pain have been shown to be safe while increasing the therapeutic benefits of BTX-A^{42,45}. The sustained pain relief effect derived from repetitive BTX-A injection was reflected in two case series patients with a follow-up of three and five years, respectively. Prolonged BTX-A therapy may increase the duration of analgesia response, and patients may need a less frequent BTX-A administration and a lower BTX-A concentration⁷³. The accumulative chemo-denervation effect of BTX-A injections was superior to single used against peripheral neuropathic pain^{42,70}. The only unpleasant event noted in our case series was pain during BTX-A injection, but studies have shown no significant difference in pain during injection between the placebo and treatment group (p=1.0)⁷⁰. However, long-term use of BTX-A may develop patients' tolerance toward BTX-A and subsequently lose its anti-nociceptive sensory effect⁷⁴. To avoid the long-term possibility of untoward BTX-A adverse events and development of sensitisation towards BTX-A in its treatment for headache and migraine, administration of minimum effective anti-nociceptive BTX-A dosage and minimising the frequency of booster injections with an interval of at least three months or more once achieving constant pain relief were practised³⁸.

The use of BTX-A has been viewed as safe with a low risk of severe adverse events if a thorough patient's medical history was obtained and the practice of appropriate dosage and injection technique. The side effects of BTX-A could be classified into transient, well localised, and reversible complications and potentially serious systemic botulism events⁷⁵. Common transient BTX-A side effects could occur immediately or days after treatment, including pain, oedema, erythema, ecchymosis and hypoaesthesia⁷⁵. Concerned of botulism in the orofacial region is the risk of dysphagia, dysphonia, diplopia, breathing difficulties, and anaphylactic allergic reaction over BTX-A. This is reflected in our case series, with no patients having any permanent loss of oro-facial muscle function and systemic toxicity on repeated use of BTX-A. It is advised to caution the patient of the possible broader area migration of toxin from the injection site, which may cause localised transient facial muscle paralysis. There was insufficient documentation on BTX-A-induced muscle atrophy's adverse effect in prolonged repetitive administration of botulinum toxin injection⁷⁶ in chronic neuropathic pain. Factors

contributing to BTX-A-induced muscle atrophy were types of botulinum toxin, advanced age, gender, obesity, muscle reinnervation and characteristic, underlying comorbidities, muscle spindles, blood perfusion, and fat volumes⁷⁶. It has been hypothesised that systemic adverse effects could occur due to accidental intravenous injection of BTX-A⁷⁷ or retrograde transport of the toxin to the nerve cells' bodies⁷⁸.

The submucosal intraoral injection is safe and simple to be delivered in the buccal vestibule, gingiva and hard palate as practised in our centre. The side effects were minimal, with the most common transient cosmetic facial asymmetry reported in the case series and literature mainly due to the unilateral application of the drug. A contralateral BTX-A injection⁷⁹ or injection of BTX-A into facial muscles that antagonise the affected muscles⁷⁵ could be offered to the patient to address the issue. Improper intraoral injection technique may lead to BTX-A diffusion to adjacent salivary glands and causes xerostomia, which has been reported in persistent dentoalveolar pain study⁴¹. Clinicians should be cautious about the adjacent vital structures that are highly perfused and have motor nerve innervation, such as the tongue, floor of the mouth and soft palate. This may lead to grave systemic nervous toxicity events. The use of a vasoconstrictor could help localise the effect of BTX-A by limiting the diffusion of BTX-A to adjacent vital structures. Nonetheless, it may reduce the analgesic efficacy and distribution of BTX-A, and multiple injection sites may be needed as the pain or trigger zones are often not localised to a single point of the traumatic nerve dermatome innervation.

As reported in our case series and literature, the combined submucosal and subcutaneous BTX-A injections have been effectively treated intraoral PTNP^{42,44-46}. Submucosal BTX-A injection over the pain or trigger zone concerning the injured distribution and innervation of the maxillary or mandibular branches of the trigeminal nerve has displayed a similar analgesic latency period as per subcutaneous administration, between one and two weeks after BTX-A injection^{41,42,43,46} except one study reported a three-day latency period⁴⁵. The BTX-A analgesic effects were reported to continue for two to five months^{41,42,44,45,46}. Studies reported that repeated three-monthly intraoral BTX-A injection cycles have a higher percentage of pain relief (70%)^{41,42,45}, as seen in cases 6 and 7. The therapeutic BTX-A range

in the reported case series falls between the literature's reported submucosal BTX-A injection dosage, between 10 and 50 units^{41,42,44-46}.

Based on the retrospective case series and literature review, the use of BTX-A in refractory PTNP patients has greatly improved patients' pain control and enhanced the patients' mental and physical health. This would reduce the need for polypharmacy treatment and the risk of adverse drug reactions, including cognitive and motor impairment and drug-to-disease interactions. The major caveat is that the use of BTX-A in chronic neuropathic orofacial pain is 'off label'. Reports on BTX-A as a potential PNB to treat PTNP are encouraging, but there is no high-quality evidence to conclude that BTX-A injections can become a standardised treatment for refractory PTNP. The literature supporting its efficacy in many of these conditions is weak, consisting mainly of a case report or uncontrolled, open-label studies rather than double-blinded, randomised clinical trials. In addition, patient profiling and selection are crucial to be assessed before BTX-A treatment.

Conclusion

~~Although the quality and evidence level of the published literature was low, the positive correlation (Are you talking about statistical correlation) on the use of Onabotulinum toxin A (BTX A) to treat refractory post traumatic trigeminal neuropathic pain (PTNP) that failed to respond to first line pharmacotherapy is compelling. We have provided initial evidence that BTX A may be an adjuvant treatment option for patients suffering from neuropathic pain with a peripheral component presenting intraorally and involving the dentoalveolar areas. In most cases, submucosal intraoral BTX A injections are well tolerated and a valid and safe treatment against refractory PTNP with no identified permanent unbearable adverse effects. The relative safety profile of BTX A allows repetitive BTX A injections cycles (Please correct grammar), producing sustainable pain relief in patients and improving patients' (Please correct grammar) quality of life and health. However, these findings should be interpreted cautiously~~ Although the quality and evidence level of the published literature was low, the benefits of BTX-A to treat refractory PTNP are compelling. We have provided our experience on the benefit of BTX-A as an adjuvant treatment option for patients suffering from neuropathic pain with a peripheral

component presenting intraorally and involving the dentoalveolar areas. The relative safety profile of BTX-A allows repetitive BTX-A injection to achieve continuous pain relief, which will inadvertently improve patients' psychosocial function. However, these findings should be interpreted cautiously due to the poor evidence quality. A large-scale randomised control trial is suggested to ~~be conducted to~~ assess BTX-A's safety and effectiveness as an anti-nociceptive agent in treating painful refractory PTNP. A regulated guideline on ~~using the use of~~ BTX-A in ~~clinical practice in~~ managing PTNP is essential to achieve the best effect while minimising any unknown long term BTX-A adverse effect.

Highlights

Key Findings

- Botulinum toxin may be a novel interventional treatment for refractory post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathy.
- ~~Botulinum toxin injection is relatively safe to be repetitively used in the long-term management of neuropathic pain in patients with post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathic pain.~~
- ~~The use of botulinum toxin could replace the need for polypharmacy in managing neuropathic pain symptoms.~~ The potential use of botulinum toxin as an adjunct therapy may reduce the need for polypharmacy in managing neuropathic pain symptoms.
- Large and well-designed randomised controlled clinical trials are needed to support botulinum toxin injection as a relatively safe repetitively therapy in the long-term management of patients with therapy for chronic post-traumatic neuropathic pain.

Acknowledgements

All authors were involved in the data collection, discussion of results and contributed to the final manuscript. All authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

References

1. Baad-Hansen L, Benoliel R. Neuropathic orofacial pain: Facts and fiction. *Cephalalgia*. 2017;37(3):670-679.
2. Renton T, Yilmaz Z. Profiling of patients presenting with post-traumatic neuropathy of the trigeminal nerve. *J Orofac Pain*. 2011;25(4):333-344.
3. Bouhassira D, Lantéri-Minet M, Attal N, et al. Prevalence of chronic pain with neuropathic characteristics in the general population. *Pain*. 2008;136(3):380-387.
4. Simon-Haroutounian, Troels-Staehelin-Jensen. *Neuropathic Pain Following Surgery*. 1st ed. Nerves and nerve injuries. 2015;2:113-122.
5. *International Classification of Orofacial Pain*. 1st ed. (ICOP). *Cephalalgia*. 2020;40:129-221.
6. *Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS)*. *The international classification of headache disorders*. 3rd ed. *Cephalalgia*. 2018;38(1):1-211.
7. Finnerup NB, Haroutounian S, Kamerman P, et al. Neuropathic pain: an updated grading system for research and clinical practice. *Pain*. 2016;157(8):1599-1606.

8. Devine M, Hirani M, Durham J, et al. Identifying criteria for diagnosis of post-traumatic pain and altered sensation of the maxillary and mandibular branches of the trigeminal nerve: a systematic review. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol.* 2018;125(6):526-540.
9. McArdle LW, Renton T. The effects of NICE guidelines on the management of third molar teeth. *Br Dent J.* 2012;213(5):e8.
10. Klazen Y, Van der Cruyssen F, Vranckx M, et al. Iatrogenic trigeminal post-traumatic neuropathy: a retrospective two-year cohort study. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 2018;47(6):789-793.
11. Renton T. Prevention of iatrogenic inferior alveolar nerve injuries in relation to dental procedures. *SADJ.* 2010;65(8):342-344, 346-348, 350-351.
12. Renton T, Yilmaz Z, Gaballah K. Evaluation of trigeminal nerve injuries in relation to third molar surgery in a prospective patient cohort. Recommendations for prevention. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 2012;41(12):1509-1518.
13. Perrot S, Lanteri Minet M. Patients' Global Impression of Change in the management of peripheral neuropathic pain: Clinical relevance and correlations in daily practice. *Eur J Pain.* 2019;23(6):1117-1128.
14. Van der Cruyssen F, Peeters F, Gill T, et al. Signs and symptoms, quality of life and psychosocial data in 1331 post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathy patients seen in two tertiary referral centres in two countries. *J Oral Rehabil.* 2020;47(10):1212-1221.
15. Smith JG, Elias LA, Yilmaz Z, et al. The psychosocial and affective burden of posttraumatic neuropathy following injuries to the trigeminal nerve. *J Orofac Pain.* 2013;27(4):293-303.
16. Finnerup NB, Attal N, Haroutounian S, et al. Pharmacotherapy for neuropathic pain in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* 2015;14(2):162-173.
17. Attal N, Cruccu G, Baron R, et al. EFNS guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of neuropathic pain: 2010 revision. *Eur J Neurol.* 2010;17(9):1113-e88.
18. Schlereth T. Guideline "diagnosis and non-interventional therapy of neuropathic pain" of the German Society of Neurology. *Neurol Res Pract.* 2020;2:16.
19. Bates D, Schultheis BC, Hanes MC, et al. A comprehensive algorithm for management of neuropathic pain. *Pain Med.* 2019;20(Suppl 1):S2-S12.

20. Neuropathic pain in adults: Pharmacological management in non-specialist settings. NICE, Clinical Guideline. 2013. Updated 2020. Available at: [nice.org.uk/guidance/eg173](https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/eg173).
21. Benoliel R, Kahn J, Eliav E. Peripheral painful traumatic trigeminal neuropathies. *Oral Diseases*. 2012;18(4):317-332.
22. Yeh YC, Cappelleri JC, Marston XL, Shelbaya A. Effects of dose titration on adherence and treatment duration of pregabalin among patients with neuropathic pain: a MarketScan database study. *PLoS One*. 2021;16(1):e0242467.
23. Liu WQ, Kanungo A, Toth C. Equivalency of tricyclic antidepressants in open-label neuropathic pain study. *Acta Neurol Scand*. 2014;129(2):132-141.
24. Attal N, de Andrade DC, Adam F, Ranoux D, et al. Safety and efficacy of repeated injections of botulinum toxin A in peripheral neuropathic pain (BOTNEP): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol*. 2016;15(6):555-565.
25. Mittal S, Safarpour D, Jabbari B. Botulinum toxin treatment of neuropathic pain. *Semin Neurol*. 2016;36(1):73-83.
26. Bohluli B, Motamedi MH, Bagheri SC, et al. Use of botulinum toxin A for drug-refractory trigeminal neuralgia: preliminary report. *Oral Surgery, Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontology*. 2011;111(1):47-50.
27. Wu CJ, Lian YJ, Zheng YK, et al. Botulinum toxin type A for the treatment of trigeminal neuralgia: results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Cephalalgia*. 2012;32(6):443-450.
28. Emad MR, Emad M, Taheri P. The efficacy of intradermal injection of botulinum toxin in patients with post-herpetic neuralgia. *Iran Red Crescent Med J*. 2011;13(5):323-327.
29. Liu H T, Tsai S K, Kao M C, et al. Botulinum toxin a relieved neuropathic pain in a case of post-herpetic neuralgia. *Pain Med*. 2006;7(1):89-91.
30. von Lindern JJ, Niederhagen B, Bergé S, et al. Type A botulinum toxin in the treatment of chronic facial pain associated with masticatory hyperactivity. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2003;61(7):774-778.
31. Khawaja SN, Scrivani SJ, Holland N, et al. Effectiveness, safety, and predictors of response to botulinum toxin type a in refractory masticatory myalgia: a retrospective study. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2017;75(11):2307-2315.

32. Guarda Nardini L, Manfredini D, Salamone M, et al. Efficacy of botulinum toxin in treating myofascial pain in bruxers: a controlled placebo pilot study. *CRANIO®*. 2008;26(2):126-135.
33. Ihde SKA, Konstantinovic VS. The therapeutic use of botulinum toxin in cervical and maxillofacial conditions: an evidence-based review. *Oral Surgery, Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontology*. 2007;104(2):e1-e11.
34. Langevin P, Peloso PM, Lowcock J, et al. Botulinum toxin for subacute/chronic neck pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*. 2011;7:CD008626.
35. Jackson JL, Kuriyama A, Hayashino Y. Botulinum toxin A for prophylactic treatment of migraine and tension headaches in adults: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2012;307(16):1736-1745.
36. Blumenfeld AM, Stark RJ, Freeman MC, et al. Long term study of the efficacy and safety of OnabotulinumtoxinA for the prevention of chronic migraine: COMPEL study. *J Headache Pain*. 2018;19(1):13.
37. Aurora SK, Dodick DW, Turkel CC, et al. OnabotulinumtoxinA for treatment of chronic migraine: Results from the double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase of the PREEMPT-1 trial. *Cephalalgia*. 2010;30(7):793-803.
38. Durham PL, Cady R. Insights into the mechanism of onabotulinumtoxinA in chronic migraine. *Headache*. 2011;51(10):1573-1577.
39. Clark GT, Stiles A, Lockerman LZ, et al. A critical review of the use of botulinum toxin in orofacial pain disorders. *Dent Clin North Am*. 2007;51(1):245-261.
40. Nathan Moreau, Wisam Dieb, Vianney Descroix, et al. Topical review: potential use of botulinum toxin in the management of painful posttraumatic trigeminal neuropathy. *J Oral Facial Pain Headache*. 2017;31(1):7-18.
41. Herrero Babiloni A, Kapos FP, Nixdorf DR. Intraoral administration of botulinum toxin for trigeminal neuropathic pain. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol*. 2016;121(6):e148-e153.
42. García Sáez R, Gutiérrez Viedma Á, González García N, et al. OnabotulinumtoxinA injections for atypical odontalgia: an open-label study on nine patients. *J Pain Res*. 2018;11:1583-1588.
43. Yoon SH, Merrill RL, Choi JH, Kim ST. Use of botulinum toxin type A injection for neuropathic pain after trigeminal nerve injury. *Pain Med*. 2010;11(4):630-632.

44. Moreno-Hay I, Mishra P, Okeson JP. Intraoral administration of botulinum toxin for continuous dentoalveolar neuropathic pain: a case series. *J Oral Facial Pain Headache*. 2019;33(2):160–164.
45. Cuadrado M-L, García-Moreno H, Arias J-A, et al. Botulinum neurotoxin type A for the treatment of atypical odontalgia. *Pain Med*. 2016;17(9):1717–1721.
46. De la Torre-Canales G, Poluha RL, Ferreira DM, et al. Botulinum toxin A injections as therapy for chronic painful post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathy: case report. *Brazilian Dent Sci*. 2020;23(1):1–5.
47. Treede RD, Jensen TS, Campbell JN, et al. Neuropathic pain: redefinition and a grading system for clinical and research purposes. *Neurology*. 2008;70(18):1630–1635.
48. Wiffen PJ, Derry S, Bell RF, et al. Gabapentin for chronic neuropathic pain in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*. 2017;6(6):CD007938.
49. Hogan QH, Abram SE. Neural blockade for diagnosis and prognosis. *Anesthesiology*. 1997;86(1):216–241.
50. Renton T. Tooth-related pain or not? *Headache*. 2020;60(1):235–246.
51. Hansson P. Neuropathic pain: clinical characteristics and diagnostic workup. *Eur J Pain*. 2002;6 (Suppl A):47–50.
52. Gharibian D, Polzin JK, Rho JP. Compliance and persistence of antidepressants versus anticonvulsants in patients with neuropathic pain during the first year of therapy. *Clin J Pain*. 2013;29(5):377–381.
53. Jimmy B, Jose J. Patient medication adherence: measures in daily practice. *Oman Med J*. 2011;26(3):155–159.
54. Brown MT, Bussell JK. Medication adherence: WHO cares? *Mayo Clin Proc*. 2011;86(4):304–314.
55. Davies SJ, Jackson PR, Ramsay LE, et al. Drug intolerance due to nonspecific adverse effects related to psychiatric morbidity in hypertensive patients. *Arch Intern Med*. 2003;163(5):592–600.
56. Chiriac AM, Demoly P. Multiple drug hypersensitivity syndrome. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol*. 2013;13(4):323–329.
57. Omer HMRB, Hodson J, Thomas SK, et al. Multiple drug intolerance syndrome: A large-scale retrospective study. *Drug Saf*. 2014;37:1037–45.

58. Faasse K, Grey A, Horne R, et al. High perceived sensitivity to medicines is associated with higher medical care utilisation, increased symptom reporting and greater information seeking about medication. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2015;24(6):592-599.
59. Colloca L, Ludman T, Bouhassira D, et al. Neuropathic pain. *Nat Rev Dis Primers.* 2017;3:17002.
60. Kankowski S, Grothe C, Haastert Talini K. Neuropathic pain: spotlighting anatomy, experimental models, mechanisms, and therapeutic aspects. *Eur J Neurosci.* 2021;54(2):4475-4496.
61. Renton T, Van der Cruyssen F. Diagnosis, pathophysiology, management and future issues of trigeminal surgical nerve injuries. *Oral Surgery.* 2020;13(4):389-403.
62. Denk F, McMahon SB. Neurobiological basis for pain vulnerability: why me? *Pain.* 2017;158 (Suppl 1):S108-S114.
63. Gassner HG, Sherris DA. Addition of an anesthetic agent to enhance the predictability of the effects of botulinum toxin type A injections: a randomized controlled study. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2000;75(7):701-704.
64. Meng J, Wang J, Lawrence G, Dolly JO. Synaptobrevin I mediates exocytosis of CGRP from sensory neurons and inhibition by botulinum toxins reflects their antinociceptive potential. *J Cell Sci.* 2007;120:2864-2874.
65. Cui M, Khanijou S, Rubino J, Aoki KR. Subcutaneous administration of botulinum toxin A reduces formalin induced pain. *Pain.* 2004;107(1-2):125-133.
66. Aoki KR. Evidence for antinociceptive activity of botulinum toxin type A in pain management. *Headache.* 2003;43 (Suppl 1):S9-15.
67. Gazerani P, Staahl C, Drewes AM, Arendt-Nielsen L. The effects of Botulinum Toxin type A on capsaicin evoked pain, flare, and secondary hyperalgesia in an experimental human model of trigeminal sensitisation. *Pain.* 2006;122(3):315-325.
68. Matak I, Bach-Rojecky L, Filipović B, et al. Behavioral and immunohistochemical evidence for central antinociceptive activity of botulinum toxin A. *Neuroscience.* 2011;186:201-207.
69. Bouhassira D, Branders S, Attal N, et al. Stratification of patients based on the Neuropathic Pain Symptom Inventory: development and validation of a new algorithm. *Pain.* 2021;162(4):1038-1046.

70. Hu Y, Guan X, Fan L, et al. Therapeutic efficacy and safety of botulinum toxin type A in trigeminal neuralgia: a systematic review. *J Headache Pain*. 2013;14(1):72.
71. Do TM, Unis GD, Kattar N, et al. Neuromodulators for atypical facial pain and neuralgias: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Laryngoscope*. 2021;131(6):1235-1253.
72. Shackleton T, Ram S, Black M, et al. The efficacy of botulinum toxin for the treatment of trigeminal and postherpetic neuralgia: a systematic review with meta-analyses. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol*. 2016;122(1):61-71.
73. Morra ME, Elgebaly A, Elmaraezy A, et al. Therapeutic efficacy and safety of botulinum toxin a therapy in trigeminal neuralgia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials. *J Headache Pain*. 2016; 17(1):63
74. Chávez-Pérez V, Felipe Spada N, Roldán-Cubero J, et al. Current status of the application of botulinum toxin as a treatment option for trigeminal neuralgia. *Cranio*. 2021;39(1):1-3.
75. Spina A, Brugliera L, Gagliardi F, et al. A reappraisal on botulinum toxin A in trigeminal neuralgia. *J Neurosurg Sci*. 2021;65(5):543-544.
76. Durand PD, Couto RA, Isakov R, et al. Botulinum toxin and muscle atrophy: a wanted or unwanted effect. *Aesthet Surg J*. 2016;36(4):482-487.
77. Borodic G, Johnson E, Goodnough M, et al. Botulinum toxin therapy, immunologic resistance, and problems with available materials. *Neurology*. 1996;46(1):26-29.
78. Salari M, Sharma S, Jog M. Botulinum Toxin Induced Atrophy: An Uncharted Territory. *Toxins (Basel)*. 2018;10(8):313.
79. Zhang H, Lian Y, Ma Y, Chen Y, He C, Xie N, Wu C. Two doses of botulinum toxin type A for the treatment of trigeminal neuralgia: observation of therapeutic effect from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *J Headache Pain*. 2014;15(1):65.

1. International Classification of Orofacial Pain. 1st ed. (ICOP). Cephalalgia. 2020;40:129-221.

2. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS). The international classification of headache disorders. 3rd ed. Cephalalgia. 2018;38(1):1-211.

3. [Finnerup NB, Haroutounian S, Kamerman P, et al. Neuropathic pain: an updated grading system for research and clinical practice. Pain. 2016;157\(8\):1599-1606.](#)
4. [Neuropathic Pain \(NeuPSIG\). IASP Special Interest Group. 2020-2022](#)
<https://www.iasp-pain.org/group/neuropathic-pain-neupsig/>
5. [Klazen Y, Van der Cruyssen F, Vranckx M, et al. Iatrogenic trigeminal post-traumatic neuropathy: a retrospective two-year cohort study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2018;47\(6\):789-793.](#)
6. [McArdle LW, Renton T. The effects of NICE guidelines on the management of third molar teeth. Br Dent J. 2012;213\(5\):e8.](#)
7. [Renton T. Prevention of iatrogenic inferior alveolar nerve injuries in relation to dental procedures. SADJ. 2010;65\(8\):342-344, 346-348, 350-351.](#)
8. [Renton T, Yilmaz Z, Gaballah K. Evaluation of trigeminal nerve injuries in relation to third molar surgery in a prospective patient cohort. Recommendations for prevention. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;41\(12\):1509-1518.](#)
9. [Tara Renton. Trigeminal nerve injuries. Australian Endodontic Journal, 2018;44\(2\): 159-169](#)
10. [Baad-Hansen L, Benoliel R. Neuropathic orofacial pain: Facts and fiction. Cephalalgia. 2017;37\(3\):670-679.](#)
11. [Renton T, Yilmaz Z. Profiling of patients presenting with post traumatic neuropathy of the trigeminal nerve. J Orofac Pain. 2011;25\(4\):333-344.](#)
12. [Bouhassira D, Lantéri-Minet M, Attal N, et al. Prevalence of chronic pain with neuropathic characteristics in the general population. Pain. 2008;136\(3\):380-387.](#)
13. [Simon Haroutounian, Troels Staehelin Jensen. Neuropathic Pain Following Surgery. 1st ed. Nerves and nerve injuries. 2015;2:113-122.](#)
14. [Van der Cruyssen F, Peeters F, Gill T, et al. Signs and symptoms, quality of life and psychosocial data in 1331 post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathy patients seen in two tertiary referral centres in two countries. J Oral Rehabil. 2020;47\(10\):1212-1221.](#)
15. [Smith JG, Elias LA, Yilmaz Z, et al. The psychosocial and affective burden of posttraumatic neuropathy following injuries to the trigeminal nerve. J Orofac Pain. 2013;27\(4\):293-303.](#)

16. [Perrot S, Lantéri-Minet M. Patients' Global Impression of Change in the management of peripheral neuropathic pain: Clinical relevance and correlations in daily practice. Eur J Pain. 2019;23\(6\):1117-1128.](#)
17. [Finnerup NB, Attal N, Haroutounian S, et al. Pharmacotherapy for neuropathic pain in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14\(2\):162-173.](#)
18. [Attal N, Cruccu G, Baron R, et al. EFNS guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of neuropathic pain: 2010 revision. Eur J Neurol. 2010;17\(9\):1113-e88.](#)
19. [Schlereth T. Guideline "diagnosis and non interventional therapy of neuropathic pain" of the German Society of Neurology. Neurol Res Pract. 2020;2:16.](#)
20. [Bates D, Schultheis BC, Hanes MC, et. A comprehensive algorithm for management of neuropathic pain. Pain Med. 2019;20\(Suppl 1\):S2-S12.](#)
21. [Neuropathic pain in adults: Pharmacological management in non-specialist settings. NICE, Clinical Guideline. 2013. Updated 2020. Available at: nice.org.uk/guidance/cg173.](#)
22. [Benoliel R, Kahn J, Eliav E. Peripheral painful traumatic trigeminal neuropathies. Oral Diseases. 2012;18\(4\):317-332.](#)
23. [Yeh YC, Cappelleri JC, Marston XL, Shelbaya A. Effects of dose titration on adherence and treatment duration of pregabalin among patients with neuropathic pain: a MarketScan database study. PLoS One. 2021;16\(1\):e0242467.](#)
24. [Liu WQ, Kanungo A, Toth C. Equivalency of tricyclic antidepressants in open-label neuropathic pain study. Acta Neurol Scand. 2014;129\(2\):132-141.](#)
25. [Park H.J., Lee Y., Lee J., Park C., Moon D.E. The effects of botulinum toxin A on mechanical and cold allodynia in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Can. J. Anaesth. 2006;53:470-477.](#)
26. [Park J, Park HJ. Botulinum Toxin for the Treatment of Neuropathic Pain. Toxins \(Basel\). 2017 Aug 24;9\(9\):260.](#)
27. [Mittal S, Safarpour D, Jabbari B. Botulinum toxin treatment of neuropathic pain. Semin Neurol. 2016;36\(1\):73-83.](#)

- [28. Bohluli B, Motamedi MH, Bagheri SC, et al. Use of botulinum toxin A for drug-refractory trigeminal neuralgia: preliminary report. Oral Surgery, Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontology. 2011;111\(1\):47-50.](#)
- [29. Wu CJ, Lian YJ, Zheng YK, et al. Botulinum toxin type A for the treatment of trigeminal neuralgia: results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Cephalalgia. 2012;32\(6\):443-450.](#)
- [30. Xiao L, Mackey S, Hui H, Xong D, Zhang Q, Zhang D. Subcutaneous injection of botulinum toxin A is beneficial in post-herpetic neuralgia. Pain Med. 2010;11:1827–1833.](#)
- [31. Apalla Z, Sotiriou E, Lallas A, Lazaridou E, Ioannides D. Botulinum toxin A in post-herpetic neuralgia: A parallel, randomized, double-blind, single-dose, placebo-controlled trial. Clin. J. Pain. 2013;29:857–864.](#)
- [32. Han Z.A., Song D.H., Oh H.M., Chung M.E. Botulinum toxin type A for neuropathic pain in patients with spinal cord injury. Ann. Neurol. 2016;79:569–578.](#)
- [33. Ranoux D., Attal N., Morain F., Bouhassira D. Botulinum toxin type A induces direct analgesic effects in chronic neuropathic pain. Ann. Neurol. 2008;64:274–283.](#)
- [34. Layeeque R., Hochberg J., Siegel E., Kunkel K., Kepple J., Henry-Tillman R.S., Dunlap M., Seibert J., Klimberg V.S. Botulinum toxin infiltration for pain control after mastectomy and expander reconstruction. Ann. Surg. 2004;240:608–613.](#)
- [35. Yuan R.Y., Sheu J.J., Yu J.M., Chen W.T., Tseng I.J., Change H.H., Hu C.J. Botulinum toxin for diabetic neuropathic pain: A randomized double-blind crossover trial. Neurology. 2009;72:1473–1478.](#)
- [36. Ghasemi M., Ansari M., Basiri K., Shaigannejad V. The effects of intradermal botulinum toxin type A injections on pain symptoms of patients with diabetic neuropathy. J. Res. Med. Sci. 2014;19:106–111.](#)
- [37. Jackson JL, Kuriyama A, Hayashino Y. Botulinum toxin A for prophylactic treatment of migraine and tension headaches in adults: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2012;307\(16\):1736-1745.](#)

- [38. Blumenfeld AM, Stark RJ, Freeman MC, et al. Long-term study of the efficacy and safety of OnabotulinumtoxinA for the prevention of chronic migraine: COMPEL study. J Headache Pain. 2018;19\(1\):13.](#)
- [39. Aurora SK, Dodick DW, Turkel CC, et al OnabotulinumtoxinA for treatment of chronic migraine: Results from the double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase of the PREEMPT 1 trial. Cephalalgia. 2010;30\(7\):793-803.](#)
- [40. Durham PL, Cady R. Insights into the mechanism of onabotulinumtoxinA in chronic migraine. Headache. 2011;51\(10\):1573-1577.](#)
- [41. Herrero Babiloni A, Kapos FP, Nixdorf DR. Intraoral administration of botulinum toxin for trigeminal neuropathic pain. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2016;121\(6\):e148-e153.](#)
- [42. García-Sáez R, Gutiérrez-Viedma Á, González-García N, et al. OnabotulinumtoxinA injections for atypical odontalgia: an open-label study on nine patients. J Pain Res. 2018;11:1583-1588.](#)
- [43. Yoon SH, Merrill RL, Choi JH, Kim ST. Use of botulinum toxin type A injection for neuropathic pain after trigeminal nerve injury. Pain Med. 2010;11\(4\):630-632.](#)
- [44. Moreno-Hay I, Mishra P, Okeson JP. Intraoral administration of botulinum toxin for continuous dentoalveolar neuropathic pain: a case series. J Oral Facial Pain Headache. 2019;33\(2\):160–164.](#)
- [45. Cuadrado M-L, García-Moreno H, Arias J-A, et al. Botulinum neurotoxin type-A for the treatment of atypical odontalgia. Pain Med. 2016;17\(9\):1717-1721.](#)
- [46. De la Torre Canales G, Poluha RL, Ferreira DM, et al. Botulinum toxin-A injections as therapy for chronic painful post-traumatic trigeminal neuropathy: case report. Brazilian Dent Sci. 2020;23\(1\):1-5.](#)
- [47. Treede RD, Jensen TS, Campbell JN, et al. Neuropathic pain: redefinition and a grading system for clinical and research purposes. Neurology. 2008;70\(18\):1630-1635.](#)
- [48. Colloca L, Ludman T, Bouhassira D, et al. Neuropathic pain. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017;3:17002.](#)
- [49. Kankowski S, Grothe C, Haastert-Talini K. Neuropathic pain: spotlighting anatomy, experimental models, mechanisms, and therapeutic aspects. Eur J Neurosci. 2021;54\(2\):4475-4496.](#)
- [50. Renton T, Van der Cruyssen F. Diagnosis, pathophysiology, management and future issues of trigeminal surgical nerve injuries. Oral Surgery. 2020;13\(4\):389-403.](#)

- [51. Gazerani P, Staahl C, Drewes AM, Arendt-Nielsen L. The effects of Botulinum Toxin type A on capsaicin-evoked pain, flare, and secondary hyperalgesia in an experimental human model of trigeminal sensitisation. Pain. 2006;122\(3\):315-325.](#)
- [52. Yang KY, Kim MJ, Ju JS, et al. Antinociceptive effects of botulinum toxin type A on trigeminal neuropathic pain. JDR. 2016; 95\(10\):0022034516659278](#)
- [53. 52. Nathan Moreau, Wisam Dieb, Vianney Descroix, et al. Topical review: potential use of botulinum toxin in the management of painful posttraumatic trigeminal neuropathy. J Oral Facial Pain Headache. 2017;31\(1\):7-18.](#)
- [54. 53. Clark GT, Stiles A, Lockerman LZ, et al. A critical review of the use of botulinum toxin in orofacial pain disorders. Dent Clin North Am. 2007;51\(1\):245-261.](#)
- [55. 54. Meng J, Wang J, Lawrence G, Dolly JO. Synaptobrevin I mediates exocytosis of CGRP from sensory neurons and inhibition by botulinum toxins reflects their anti-nociceptive potential. J Cell Sci. 2007;120:2864-2874.](#)
- [56. 55. Cui M, Khanijou S, Rubino J, Aoki KR. Subcutaneous administration of botulinum toxin A reduces formalin-induced pain. Pain. 2004;107\(1-2\):125-133.](#)
- [57. 56. Matak I, Bach-Rojecky L, Filipović B, et al. Behavioral and immunohistochemical evidence for central anti-nociceptive activity of botulinum toxin A. Neuroscience. 2011;186:201-207.](#)
- [58. 57. Park J, Park HJ. Botulinum Toxin for the Treatment of Neuropathic Pain. Toxins \(Basel\). 2017 Aug 24;9\(9\):260.](#)
- [59. Aoki KR. Evidence for anti-nociceptive activity of botulinum toxin type A in pain management. Headache. 2003;43 \(Suppl 1\):S9-15.](#)
- [60. Gharibian D, Polzin JK, Rho JP. Compliance and persistence of antidepressants versus anticonvulsants in patients with neuropathic pain during the first year of therapy. Clin J Pain. 2013;29\(5\):377-381.](#)
- [61. Jimmy B, Jose J. Patient medication adherence: measures in daily practice. Oman Med J. 2011;26\(3\):155-159.](#)
- [62. Brown MT, Bussell JK. Medication adherence: WHO cares? Mayo Clin Proc. 2011;86\(4\):304-314.](#)

- [63. Davies SJ, Jackson PR, Ramsay LE, et al. Drug intolerance due to nonspecific adverse effects related to psychiatric morbidity in hypertensive patients. Arch Intern Med. 2003;163\(5\):592-600.](#)
- [64. Chiriac AM, Demoly P. Multiple drug hypersensitivity syndrome. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2013;13\(4\):323-329.](#)
- [65. Omer HMRB, Hodson J, Thomas SK, et al. Multiple drug intolerance syndrome: A large-scale retrospective study. Drug Saf. 2014;37:1037-45.](#)
- [66. Faasse K, Grey A, Horne R, et al. High perceived sensitivity to medicines is associated with higher medical care utilisation, increased symptom reporting and greater information-seeking about medication. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2015;24\(6\):592-599.](#)
- [67. Denk F, McMahon SB. Neurobiological basis for pain vulnerability: why me? Pain. 2017;158 \(Suppl 1\):S108-S114.](#)
- [68. Renton T. Tooth-related pain or not? Headache. 2020;60\(1\):235-246.](#)
- [69. Hansson P. Neuropathic pain: clinical characteristics and diagnostic workup. Eur J Pain. 2002;6 \(Suppl A\):47-50.](#)
- [70. Attal N, de Andrade DC, Adam F, Ranoux D, et al. Safety and efficacy of repeated injections of botulinum toxin A in peripheral neuropathic pain \(BOTNEP\): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15\(6\):555-565.](#)
- [71. Bouhassira D, Branders S, Attal N, et al. Stratification of patients based on the Neuropathic Pain Symptom Inventory: development and validation of a new algorithm. Pain. 2021;162\(4\):1038-1046.](#)
- [72. Hogan QH, Abram SE. Neural blockade for diagnosis and prognosis. Anesthesiology. 1997;86\(1\):216-241.](#)
- [73. Durand PD, Couto RA, Isakov R, et al. Botulinum toxin and muscle atrophy: a wanted or unwanted effect. Aesthet Surg J. 2016;36\(4\):482-487.](#)
- [74. Borodic G, Johnson E, Goodnough M, et al. Botulinum toxin therapy, immunologic resistance, and problems with available materials. Neurology. 1996;46\(1\):26-29.](#)
- [75. Witmanowski H and Blochowiak K. The whole truth about botulinum toxin- a review. Postepy Dermatol Alergol 2020; 37\(6\):853-861.](#)

- [76. Salari M, Sharma S, Jog M. Botulinum Toxin Induced Atrophy: An Uncharted Territory. Toxins \(Basel\). 2018;10\(8\):313.](#)
- [77. Hristova AH, Joseph LN, Sathe SA, et al. Severe nervous system complications after botulinum type A therapy: three case reports with reviews of FDA-reported nervous system adverse effects. PMR. 2012;4:613–23.](#)
- [78. De Leat K, Wyndaele JJ. Adverse events after botulinum A toxin injection for neurogenic voiding disorders. Spinal Cord. 2005;43:397–9.](#)
- [79. Jahromi AH and Konofaos P. Contralateral Facial Botulinum Toxin Injection in Cases with Acute Facial Paralysis May Improve the Functional Recovery: Where We Stand and the Future Direction. World J Plast Surg 2021; 10\(2\):89-92.](#)